
TOWN OF VERNON 
Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) 

Virtual Meeting Notice & Agenda  
Thursday, June 3, 2021 7:30 PM  

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call by Roland Klee, Chairman 
  
2. Administrative Actions/Requests  
 

2.1 Amendment/Adoption of Agenda - Additional business to be considered under agenda item #7 
“Other Business” requires Commission vote 

 
2.3 Approval of the Minutes from the May 6, 2021. (No Quorum May 20, 2021) 
 

3. New Application(s) for receipt, if any:  
 
 
4. Public Hearing(s) and Action on Applications 
  

4.1  Application [PZ-2021-07] of Pave Tool Innovators for a modification to an existing site plan of 
development in order to construct two buildings (totaling +-11,525 sq. ft), a temporary accessory 
structure and parking areas at 190 Tunnel Rd. (Assessor’s ID: 29 Block 134 Parcel 11C). The 
property is zoned Industrial (I). ACTION ONLY 

 
 
5. 8-24 Referrals, If any 
 
6.  Plan of Conservation and Development Update 
 
 6.1 Schedule Update 
  
7. Other Business/Discussion 
 
 7.1 Meeting location Update 
  
8. Adjournment   
      
        Roland Klee, Chairman 
        Planning & Zoning Commission 
          

Zoom Meeting Information 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83431861356?pwd=TkFNUTgwLy9jWnkzbEo0RUVGZTNvdz09 

Meeting ID: 834 3186 1356 Passcode: u7Lnh5 
By Phone (646) 876-9923 Meeting ID: 834 3186 1356  Passcode: 326910 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83431861356?pwd=TkFNUTgwLy9jWnkzbEo0RUVGZTNvdz09


DRAFT MINUTES 



TOWN OF VERNON 
Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) 

Thursday, May 6, 2021 7:30 PM  
 

Via Zoom 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call by Roland Klee, Chairman 
• Regular members present: Roland Klee, Robin Lockwood (arrived 7:38pm), Mike Mitchell, Iris 
Mullan, Susan Reudgen and Jesse Schoolnik 
• Alternate Member: Carl Bard, sitting for Joseph Miller 
• Absent Members: - Joseph Miller 
• Staff present: George McGregor, Town Planner 
• Recording secretary: Jill Rocco 

  
2. Administrative Actions/Requests  
 

2.1 Amendment/Adoption of Agenda - Additional business to be considered under agenda item #7 
“Other Business” requires Commission vote 

 
Susan Reudgen MOVED to ADOPT the agenda as is. Jesse Schoolnik seconded and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
2.3 Approval of the Minutes from the April 15, 2021. 
 
Mike Mitchell MOVED to APPROVE the minutes from April 15, 2021.  Susan Reudgen seconded and the 
motion carried unanimously. 
 

3. New Application(s) for receipt, if any:  
 
 NONE 
 
4. Public Hearing(s) and Action on Applications 
  
 NONE 
 
5. 8-24 Referrals, If any 
 
 NONE 
 
6.  Plan of Conservation and Development Update 
 

• Public Workshop Debrief  
• Draft strategies 
• Schedule update 

 
George McGregor, Town Planner gave an update on the work session of April 29, 2021. 

• 31 attendees 
• Consultant briefed public on goals and objectives 
• Further along with strategies than expected 
• Full draft document expected by June 3rd, including conditions and maps. 
• Discussion ensued 



 
Commission Lockwood joined the meeting at 7:38 PM 
Chairman Klee requested Commissioner Bard be seated for Commissioner Miller.  

 
7. Other Business/Discussion 
 

George McGregor, Town Planner, explained that there has been no update to transitioning to in person meeting at 
this time. 
Discussion ensued. 

  
8. Adjournment   
    

Mike Mitchell MOVED to ADJOURN at 7:53 PM.  Susan Reudgen seconded and the motion carried 
unanimously.   

         
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
Jill Rocco 
Recording Secretary 



APPLICATION 

1 

 





























From: Rachel Dearborn
To: McGregor, George
Cc: Gately, Shaun; Smith, David; "Phil Bahler"
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: 190 Tunnel rd.
Date: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 5:59:43 PM
Attachments: image006.png

image009.png

CAUTION: This Email is from an EXTERNAL source. Ensure you trust this sender before clicking on any links or attachments.
See comments below.
 

From: McGregor, George <GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 9:36 AM
To: Rachel Dearborn <rachel@landmarksurveys.com>
Cc: Gately, Shaun <sgately@vernon-ct.gov>; Smith, David <dsmith@vernon-ct.gov>
Subject: 190 Tunnel rd.
 

Rachel
 
I am waiting for Dave’s comments but I do have a couple of questions for clarification.
 

1. The area of the proposed pervious pavers is label as ‘existing gravel”. Doesn’t make any real difference but it looked grassed to me (unless its weeks over the gravel)? – Yes, it
is currently very weedy but it is gravel that is overgrown with weeds.

2. Are there any foundation plantings proposed for the new additions? Yes, The proposed landscaping will be consistent with the landscaping around the existing building.  See
Pictures  Are there any other landscaping additions planned or proposed?

 

 
 

3. Sight lighting. Will the new building and addition have wall packs or any other site lighting? Please forward those details.
Proposed site lighting will be consistent with the existing wall pack lighting.  See Picture below.

Proposed lighting on existing building.
 

4. Architecture: we still are asking for color and material samples and or a color elevation.
The proposed addition and building will be metal buildings with some stone/timber features with the same color scheme as the existing.

mailto:rachel@landmarksurveys.com
mailto:GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:sgately@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:DSmith@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:pb@pavetool.com




Existing building color scheme.

Rendition of existing building renovations.
 
 

Example of proposed garage doors.  Color to match existing color scheme.
 

 
5. As a reminder this will go to the DRC next Tuesday (June 1) for an advisory recommendation. Then to the PZC on Thursday (June 3). I will forward ZOOM link when available.

 
6. Will the chain link fence remain? YES
7. “Permiable” should be “Permeable”—see detail label   Thank you!

 
george
 
George K. McGregor, AICP
Town Planner
Town of Vernon
55 West Main Street
Vernon, CT. 06066-3291
Phone: (860) 870-3640
Mobile: (860) 336-1846
 



From: Rachel Dearborn
To: McGregor, George
Cc: Gately, Shaun; Smith, David; "Phil Bahler"
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: 190 Tunnel rd.
Date: Wednesday, May 26, 2021 6:05:41 AM
Attachments: image014.png

image016.png

CAUTION: This Email is from an EXTERNAL source. Ensure you trust this sender before clicking on any links or attachments.
Additional info.
 
 

 
Location of proposed lighting.
 
 
Proposed front stand along building sketches.
 

Floor Plan

Front stand along building
 
 
 

From: Rachel Dearborn 
Sent: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 6:00 PM
To: McGregor, George <GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov>
Cc: Gately, Shaun <sgately@vernon-ct.gov>; Smith, David <dsmith@vernon-ct.gov>; 'Phil Bahler' <pb@pavetool.com>
Subject: RE: 190 Tunnel rd.
 
See comments below.
 

From: McGregor, George <GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 9:36 AM
To: Rachel Dearborn <rachel@landmarksurveys.com>
Cc: Gately, Shaun <sgately@vernon-ct.gov>; Smith, David <dsmith@vernon-ct.gov>
Subject: 190 Tunnel rd.
 

Rachel
 

mailto:rachel@landmarksurveys.com
mailto:GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:sgately@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:DSmith@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:pb@pavetool.com
mailto:GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:rachel@landmarksurveys.com
mailto:sgately@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:dsmith@vernon-ct.gov




STAFF COMMENTS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PLANNING 
 DEPARTMENT 

 
 

14 PARK PLACE, VERNON, CT 06066 
(860) 870-3640 

gmcgregor@vernon-ct.gov 

TOWN OF VERNON 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM  
 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
FROM:  George K. McGregor, AICP, Town Planner 
 
SUBJECT: PZ-2021-07, 190 Tunnel Rd. Site Plan 
 
DATE:  June 3, 2021 
 
 
Request and Background 
 

Phil Bahler, owner of Pave Tool 
Innovators, the (“Applicant”), 
requests approval for a 
modification to an existing site 
plan located at 190 Tunnel Rd., 
(Assessor ID: Map 29, Block 
134, Parcel 11C). The property 
is 3.03 acres and zoned 
Industrial (I). Pursuant to 
Section 14, a modification to 
the site plan requires PZC 
review and approval.  
 
The Applicant operates Pave 
Tool Innovators which provides 
specialized hardscape 

equipment, tools, and services for the landscaping and construction industry. The firm currently 
is housed in a 7,000 square foot structure on the site. Due to growth, the Applicant proposes to 
construct a 5,525 sq. ft. addition and a new 6,000 sq. ft. structure as part of the expansion. In 
addition, a pervious paved area is planned for equipment storage, demonstration, display and 
parking. 
 
The property is adjacent to a regulated area and is subject to wetlands review. The project has 
received wetlands approval issued by the Wetlands Agent for minimal disturbance. 



PZ-2021-07   190 Tunnel Rd.               2 
June 3, 2021 

 
 

Site Plan 

 
 

The site plan substantially meets the requirements of Section 14 (Site Plans) and conforms to 
the applicable sections of the Zoning regulations (4.10) 



PZ-2021-07   190 Tunnel Rd.               3 
June 3, 2021 

 
 

 
Primary Addition Elevation 

 

 
 

 
New Construction Concept (Front building) 

 

 
 
 
 

The project proposes a metal panel industrial structure with architectural elements for the 
addition to the existing building. The new construction is in conceptual development, although 
the plan is to match the addition with common design elements, colors, and materials. 
 
The Design Review Advisory Commission will review the design elements on June 2, 2021. 
 
 
 
 



PZ-2021-07   190 Tunnel Rd.               4 
June 3, 2021 

 
 
 
Analysis and Recommendation 
 
 
The Town Engineer has identified several technical items which have been forwarded to the 
applicant for a response. We expect a prompt resolution. 
 
Beyond those items, there are no Staff identified outstanding issues, with referral comments 
received from Zoning, Wetlands Agent, and Town Engineer. The site plan meets the site plan 
requirements of Section 13 and the zoning requirements found in Section 4.10. 
 
 
Draft Motions 
 
 

A. I move that the Planning and Zoning Commission Approve PZ-2021-07, a modification to 
an existing site plan, subject to the Site Plan dated April 30, 2021, prepared by 
Landmark Surveys. 

 
 
OR 
 

B. I move an alternate motion 



From: McGregor, George
To: "Rachel Dearborn"
Cc: Gately, Shaun; Smith, David
Subject: 190 Tunnel rd.
Date: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 9:35:00 AM

Rachel
 
I am waiting for Dave’s comments but I do have a couple of questions
for clarification.
 

1.  The area of the proposed pervious pavers is label as ‘existing
gravel”. Doesn’t make any real difference but it looked grassed to
me (unless its weeks over the gravel)?

2.  Are there any foundation plantings proposed for the new
additions? Are there any other landscaping additions planned or
proposed?

3.  Sight lighting. Will the new building and addition have wall packs or
any other site lighting? Please forward those details.

4.  Architecture: we still are asking for color and material samples and
or a color elevation.

 
5.  As a reminder this will go to the DRC next Tuesday (June 1) for an

advisory recommendation. Then to the PZC on Thursday (June 3). I
will forward ZOOM link when available.
 

6.  Will the chain link fence remain?
7.  “Permiable” should be “Permeable”—see detail label

 
george
 
George K. McGregor, AICP
Town Planner
Town of Vernon
55 West Main Street

mailto:GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:rachel@landmarksurveys.com
mailto:sgately@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:DSmith@vernon-ct.gov


Vernon, CT. 06066-3291
Phone: (860) 870-3640
Mobile: (860) 336-1846
 



From: Smith, David
To: McGregor, George
Cc: Rachel Dearborn; Perry, Craig
Subject: PZC Application 150 Tunnel Road
Date: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 11:52:45 AM

George –
 
I have reviewed the plan submitted with this application and have the following comments –

If during the construction of the addition, new building or the Paver Parking Area, the
contractor needs to temporarily stockpile earth products, we will want that area to be
protected by siltation fencing and/or haybales.  Any excess material will need to be
removed from the property unless approved by the Wetland Enforcement Officer.
The existing building, the proposed addition and the proposed new building are proposed
to be connected to the Vernon Sanitary Sewer.  The specifics for this connection will be
reviewed and approved by the Sewer Authority and the Engineering Department prior to
construction.  This connection will need to provide adequate distance between the
service piping and the proposed structures, will address concerns related to the depth of
the connection and follow accepted engineering practices.
I do not believe that there will be any adverse impacts related to stormwater runoff from
the new roof areas, since for the most part they are proposed over packed gravel parking
surfaces.

 
If you or the applicant have any questions regarding this review, please let me know at your earliest
convenience.
 
Thank you
 
Dave
 
 
David A. Smith, PE LS
Vernon Town Engineer
55 West Main Street
Vernon, CT. 06066
860-870-3663
dsmith@vernon-ct.gov
 
 

mailto:DSmith@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:GMcGregor@vernon-ct.gov
mailto:rachel@landmarksurveys.com
mailto:cperry@vernon-ct.gov





	PZC  Agenda for 6-3-21
	Draft Minutes
	PZC Draft Minutes 5-6-21
	Application 1
	Applicant Packet for PZC June 3 2021
	PZ 2021-07 Applicant Submission
	[EXTERNAL] RE_ 190 Tunnel rd.
	Applicant response 2 to design inquiry May 26, 2021

	Staff Comments
	Staff memo and Attachments for PZC June 3 2021
	PZ-2021-07 Staff Report
	Town Planner Comments 5-25-21
	Engineer comments PZC Application 150 Tunnel Road
	WA-2021-04 Approval Letter


